STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

STEPHEN FRANCOIS,

**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

JUL 03 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-002016

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

TAYLOR D GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Whether the PCR court erred in denying relief, where Petitioner's plea was not freely, intelligently, and voluntarily made, where plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel and advised Petitioner that he would receive a sentence of between fifteen and twenty-two years based on his lesser culpability compared to two co-defendants, where a global plea agreement contained a sentencing range of between fifteen and thirty years for all three defendants, where Petitioner pleaded guilty on the advice of counsel, and where Petitioner received a thirty year sentence identical to his two more culpable co-defendants?

II. Whether the PCR court erred by denying Petitioner's request for a continuance, where Petitioner had received a transcript from a hearing involving two crucial post-trial motions less than three weeks before the evidentiary hearing, where Petitioner's father who was going to testify about the representations plea counsel made to Petitioner regarding sentencing was out of the country for work and could not attend the hearing following limited notice to Petitioner, and where Petitioner had been on lockdown repeatedly and therefore unable to speak with his PCR counsel on the telephone?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Charleston County grand jury on June 7, 2010 for two counts of burglary in the first degree, three counts of kidnapping, two counts of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and two counts of armed robbery. App. 3 ll. 6 – 16; App. 334 – 351. He pleaded guilty before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. on January 19, 2011. App. 15 l. 8 – App. 21 l. 7. Peter Brown represented Petitioner, and Scarlett Wilson served as the solicitor. Judge Dennis accepted Petitioner's plea as well as pleas from two co-defendants, Miguel Starks and Reginald Rice. App. 46 ll. 2 – 4.

Sentencing was deferred until March 22, 2011. App. 48. A global sentencing agreement extended to all three defendants: the sentences would be concurrent and there existed a cap of thirty years. App. 79 l. 13 – App. 81 l. 4. Petitioner's parents, Kimberly and Marlon Francois, spoke on his behalf at the sentencing hearing. App. 168 l. 6 – App. 171 l. 19. His mother wondered aloud whether Petitioner had acted out following his parents' separation; Petitioner, in response, maturely took full responsibility and assured his mother his conduct was not a result of their separation. App. 168 l. 6 – App. 173 l. 18.

Although he appeared to vacillate immediately beforehand, the plea judge sentenced Petitioner and his two, more culpable co-defendants, to identical sentences of thirty years each. App. 180 l. 2 – App. 183 l. 6. Counsel for Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Sentencing on April 1, 2011. App. 185. The state filed a response on April 4, 2011. App. 186 – 190.

A hearing on the motion to reconsider was heard before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis on November 13, 2014, **more than three years later**. App. 191. Peter Brown again appeared on behalf of Petitioner, and Culver Kidd appeared on behalf of the state. A motion to

relieve counsel had been filed prior to the hearing. App. 195 ll. 5 – 15. Inexplicably, the reconsideration judge heard the motion to reconsider the sentence prior to the motion to relieve counsel, even though counsel admitted he was not prepared for the reconsideration matter. App. 196 l. 20 – App. 197 l. 8. Counsel noted that he anticipated the court only hearing the motion to relieve at that time:

Your Honor, this is - - I've got to state jury very, very briefly for the record that this decision to do the Motion to reconsider is a surprise to some degree in that it was going to be done today. I thought that we were going to do a Motion to relieve.

...

**I am not adequately prepared to argue the Motion to reconsider.**

App. 196 l. 22 – App. 197 l. 5. (emphasis added).

Nonetheless, the hearing continued; the court denied the motion for reconsideration and granted the motion to relieve. App. 211 ll. 13 – 17; App. 213 ll. 5 – 13. An Order Denying the Motion for Reconsideration was signed on November 13, 2014. App. 216.

Petitioner then filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on August 25, 2015. App. 217. It contained an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel, a claim of involuntary guilty plea, and an assertion of a due process violation. App. 219. The state made its Return on or about June 2, 2016. App. 226 – 232.

An evidentiary hearing took place on October 5, 2018 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. App. 233. Christopher Murphy represented Petitioner, and Megan Jameson appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner and plea counsel testified at the hearing. The PCR judge took the matter under advisement and requested proposed orders. App. 312 ll. 10 – 13. An Order of Dismissal was filed on October 24, 2018. App. 314. The PCR court found plea counsel's testimony credible and concluded that Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden.

This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The PCR court erred in denying relief, where Petitioner's plea was not freely, intelligently, and voluntarily made, where plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel and advised Petitioner that he would receive a sentence of between fifteen and twenty-two years based on his lesser culpability compared to two co-defendants, where a global plea agreement contained a sentencing range of between fifteen and thirty years for all three defendants, where Petitioner pleaded guilty on the advice of counsel, and where Petitioner received a thirty year sentence identical to his two more culpable co-defendants.**

### Relevant facts

Petitioner was twenty years old at the time of his plea and was previously enrolled at the College of Charleston with a double major in political science and business. App. 43 ll. 1 – 6. He was raised in Atlanta and maintained a 3.6 GPA in high school. App. 153 l. 3 – App. 156 l. 2. He was an excellent athlete; he played football and baseball all four years of high school. Id. He participated in mock trial in high school, and his team earned second place in its regional competition in Atlanta. Id. Petitioner was voted best attorney. Id. He aspired to practice law. Id.

Charleston Southern University offered Petitioner a football and baseball scholarship. Id. After attending school there for a year and a half, he transferred to the College of Charleston. Id. He became involved in the Call Me Mister Program, which “is out there for black males to be encouraged and help with their education in order to give back to the community and encourage them to go into teaching.” Id. Unfortunately, Petitioner was persuaded by Miguel Starks, a previous teammate of Petitioner's and quarterback at The Citadel, to participate in some ill-

conceived antics leading to the arrest of Starks, co-defendant Rice, and Petitioner following two home invasions.

Petitioner acknowledged his participation. App. 161 l. 16 – App. 163 l. 11. He was the first of all the co-defendants to cooperate with law enforcement, without a proffer, and provided a “pretty detailed statement to the police.” App. 61 ll. 7 – 13. As noted by counsel at the sentencing hearing:

Mr. Francois acknowledged his participation in it. He spoke to the City authorities. It was on a video. It was recorded. He obtained counsel, and we immediately went forward and met at the Charleston County Sheriff’s Office. We gave a full and complete statement immediately. We were the first one to do so, Your Honor. We understood that that was the way to go.

He did that without a proffer. He did that without any promises at all. He knew it was the right thing to do, and he needed to do it. I think that started the other defendants, and they all ended up giving statements as you are aware.

App. 161 l. 18 – App. 162 l. 7. Regarding sentencing, counsel suggested that there was a chance that Petitioner may only be required to serve the statutory minimum:

Solicitor Wilson is extremely tough. And she came to us and said, ‘Well, here’s your offer. Your client [is] going to have to accept the mandatory minimum of fifteen years in prison on burg[lary] first. I am unwavering on that. I’m not moving off of that. I’m not going to give on armed robbery.’

...

But she said, ‘I’m going to keep the mandatory minimum of fifteen, and I’m going to give you a range, a sentencing range, of up to thirty years in prison.’ And she put that out there for us. She had the foresight - - and she did that only after probably about eleven months, when she came to us in January.

...

And we had to sit down and we had to pray about it. I spoke to my client several times. I had to speak to his family and explain that, “your son’s going to have to go to prison for fifteen years. He’s going to have to serve eighty-five percent of that. He’s going to have to do 4,654 days at the very, very best for his actions.

App. 162 l. 25 – App. 164 l. 13. Plea counsel requested that the judge sentence the three male co-defendants “individually for their culpability, planning, participation, possession of weapons and actions that took place or might have not taken place during that.” App. 165 ll. 15 – 21. Counsel further explained that Petitioner did not bring any weapons to the robberies. He “wasn’t involved in the entry of the first house on Johns Island.” App. 66 ll. 2 – 11.

Petitioner’s parents retained plea counsel and paid him \$35,000. App. 240 ll. 13 – 20. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner explained how communication waned following his sentencing but while the reconsideration motion was pending. App. 240 ll. 21 – 25. He spoke about how counsel and the solicitor worked out a deal to avoid trial. App. 243 l. 10 – App. 244 l.

4. The specifics of the agreement were discussed with counsel, Petitioner, and his father:

So in the case, my father and I - - we were both seeing Pete at the same time then. He would come down from Atlanta and we would meet with Pete at that time. From our understanding was we were going to get - - we’re going to get you on the lower end or the lower half of the 30, which would be 15 - - open plea to 15 to 30, either between 15 and 22 years. That was the agreement. He said that that didn’t need to be said in open court because it was already established in chambers.

App. 244 l. 24 – App. 245 l. 7.

Petitioner answered pointedly when asked whether he was under the impression that he was going to receive thirty years: “No, sir, I wasn’t.” App. 245 ll. 8 – 15. His understanding was that he would receive something less. Id. Petitioner stated that the plea agreement was understood to be staggered: Petitioner would be on the lower end, Rice would be in the middle, and Starks would be at the top. App. 248 ll. 12 – 23. That arrangement followed conversations with counsel and the solicitor. App. 245 ll. 16 – 19.

Counsel told Petitioner that he could expect to receive no more than twenty-two years:

Mr. Brown [said] you can expect to receive no more than 22 years. He said, expect - - don't expect 15. He said we won't be on the top end of it; we won't be at the 30 range, we [won't] be at the 25 to 30 range because we didn't have the sexual misconduct [that co-defendant Starks had]. Mr. Starks was pleading to the sexual misconduct and Mr. Starks had too ownership of being the ring leader of the whole situation as it was.

App. 245 l. 18 – App. 246 l. 1. Petitioner reiterated that Starks was more culpable and “did worse things” than Petitioner. App. 246 ll. 2 – 9. Although none of this was memorialized in correspondence, counsel took note of it in his legal pad:

The closest thing I had to writing was, in Mr. Brown's notes, he would write like - - he would always give a charge. This is what we're looking at and he'll have his legal pad and he'll write 15, and then he'll write a line above the 15 and it'd be like 22, this is where we're going to be right in this area. I talked to Judge Dennis, I've talked to Ms. Wilson.

App. 249 ll. 1 – 16. Although Petitioner and his father questioned why sentencing was not severed, counsel never made such a motion. Id.; App. 253 l. 20 – App. 254 l. 14.

Interestingly, Petitioner then touched on an unfair aspect of the sentencing:

Judge Dennis made a statement saying, he doesn't expect me to understand the brotherhood that [T]he Citadel had, and how Mr. Starks and Mr. Rice violated that brotherhood, but he does expect me to understand that I knew better because I was supposed to be the smartest.

...

Just because my GPA was [higher] than Mr. Starks' or Mr. Rice's, doesn't mean necessarily that I'm responsible for their actions. Again, it showed - - it was shown, and Ms. Wilson saw, in the text messages that me and Mr. Starks had a debate about the whole situation and that's one of the reasons she said, you are least culpable and this is one of the reasons why you'll be on the 15 to 22 [range] and because we can't just let you go, and I understand that with studying the law. What I didn't understand is why would you promise me - - make this agreement with my family, make this agreement with me, sell me on this dream, and then when it happens, you say, oh well.

App. 246 l. 14 – App. 247 l. 8. Counsel was ineffective for failing to move to sever the pleas and sentencing. App. 263 l. 21 – App. 264 l. 8. Additionally, counsel failed to secure the appearance and testimony of family members at the motion to reconsider hearing. App. 262 ll. 5 – 21.

Petitioner recalled incredibly specific details from counsel's representation of him, thus reinforcing his credibility. He recalled the name of counsel's assistant. App. 283 l. 7 – App. 284 l. 22. He left messages with her but rarely heard back from counsel. Id. Moreover, Petitioner also pointed out how his mother pleaded for mercy against the advice of counsel at the sentencing hearing:

Actually, my mom pled for mercy; my dad did not mention anything about mercy because that's what ... Mr. Brown asked us not to do. He said do not bring up the mercy factor. Do not bring up mercy ... mercy is one of those things you just don't want to bring up with [the sentencing judge] and after my mom said it, Mr. Brown looked over his shoulder and she eased off of it.

App. 284 ll. 3 – 22.

It naturally follows that in addition to being the recipient of ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner's guilty plea was involuntary. App. 261 l. 3 – App. 262 l. 21. Counsel never had a conversation with Petitioner about going to trial. App. 247 ll. 9 – 14. The plea was always the only option. App. 287 ll. 20 – 24. Petitioner indicated that had he known he was going to receive thirty years, he would have elected to go to trial. App. 282 l. 17 – App. 283 l. 6. At the evidentiary hearing, he was recalled to the stand following plea counsel's testimony and spoke at length:

Mr. Murphy, like I explained to you before, if I would've known I was [going to receive] 30 years, we should've went to trial, because at least I would've had a better appeal option. I cooperated. I did what the state asked me to do. I did what Pete asked me to do. I was - - I did everything my attorney advised me to do throughout the whole process. Mr. Brown said he never promised that, he never promised that. He kept saying that, but every time we would meet, he would draw a diagram on his legal pad, like I said before, **he would draw a diagram on his legal pad, 15 at the bottom, 20 in the middle, 25, 30, like a triangle and he would put me between them, 15 and 20 range.** Mr. Rice would be in the mid-twenties range, and Mr. Starks would be in the 30 at the top of the pyramid. And countless [ ] times, he drew that diagram, not only with me, but with my father. We both had that kind of understanding.

App. 308 l. 3 – App. 309 l. 8. (emphasis added)

Inexplicably, plea counsel did not bring his entire file “because of the PCR nature.” App. 290 ll. 1 – 8. However, from memory, he agreed that Petitioner was the least culpable of the three male codefendants. App. 288 ll. 11 – 14. Within seconds of denying ever having a chambers meeting with the plea judge, counsel reversed course and noted that he was “sure we had meetings with [the judge] prior to it.” App. 291 ll. 7 – 24.

Regarding the severance motion, counsel indicated that he verbally made a motion but did not file a written request. App. 294 ll. 8 – 24. Notably, however, the word sever does not appear in the plea or sentencing transcripts. Although counsel asked that the sentencing judge “consider [Petitioner’s] participation and consider him separately,” there was no motion to sever made. App. 167 ll. 14 – 20. Petitioner remarked that he likely would not have received the full thirty year sentence if counsel had moved to sever, noting the significant differences in his conduct and his co-defendants’. App. 308 l. 3 – App. 309 l. 8.

Counsel denied telling Petitioner to expect fifteen years but straightforwardly admitted that he would have told Petitioner to expect twenty-two years. App. 305 ll. 3 – 15.

### Discussion

In Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134 (2012), the United States Supreme Court noted that the, “Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to have counsel present at all critical stages of the criminal proceedings[, which] . . . include arraignments, postindictment interrogations, postindictment line ups, and the entry of a guilty plea.” Id. at 141 (citations and internal quotation omitted). The Court further emphasized that “[i]n today’s criminal justice system, . . . the negotiation of a plea bargain, rather than the unfolding of a trial, is almost always the critical point for a defendant.” Id. (emphasis added). Accordingly, “[a]nything less [than effective counsel during plea negotiations]... might deny a defendant ‘effective representation by counsel at the only

stage when legal aid and advice would help him.” Id. at 1408 (citing Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964) (quotation citation omitted).

“The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688.

The difference, “between a valid guilty plea and an invalid guilty plea lies in the knowing and voluntary nature of the plea.” Berry v. State, 381 S.C. 630, 635, 675 S.E.2d 425, 427 (2009). The longstanding test for determining the validity of a plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) (internal quotations omitted) (applying the two-part test for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) to claims of the same against plea counsel).

First, “the voluntariness of the plea depends on whether counsel’s advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56. On the other hand, the prejudice requirement focuses on whether “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, [the defendant] would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Id. at 59. “[T]he voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at

the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.” Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 572-74, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615-12 (2011).

“The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel’s skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the ‘ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution’ to which they are entitled.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 685 (quoting Adams v. United States ex. rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269 (1942)). Additionally, a guilty plea that was entered by one fully aware of the direct consequences “must stand *unless induced by . . . misrepresentation*.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970) (emphasis added) (quoting Shelton v. United States, 246 F.2d 571, 572 n.2 (1957)).

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