STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**DEC 20 2019**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Appellate Case No. 2018-002016

---

STEPHEN FRANCOIS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SARA ELYSSA GUNTON  
S.C. Bar No. 103525  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court correctly denied relief finding Petitioner’s plea was knowing and voluntary where no evidence of prejudice was presented because any mistaken belief by Petitioner as to the potential sentence he might receive was cured by the colloquy with the plea court and Petitioner’s responses during the colloquy directly contradict his assertions that his plea was involuntarily given.**

Petitioner argues on appeal that the PCR court erred in denying him relief because his decision to plead guilty was involuntary based on counsel’s assertion that he would receive a sentence of twenty-two years.<sup>4</sup> Petitioner claims that this error on the part of counsel rises to the level of constitutional ineffectiveness and warrant the reversal of his conviction and a remand for

---

<sup>4</sup> Contained within Petitioner’s brief are a litany of conclusory arguments not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal:

1. Counsel was not prepared to argue the Motion to Reconsider (PWC p. 3);
2. Counsel was ineffective for failing to move to sever the pleas and sentencing (PWC p. 8; p. 13);
3. Counsel failed to secure the appearance and testimony of family members at the motion to reconsider hearing (PWC p. 8);
4. Counsel failed to discuss with Petitioner the option to go to trial (PWC p. 13);
5. Counsel failed to discuss with Petitioner that he could receive a *lighter sentence* at trial (PWC p. 13) (emphasis added).

Respondent refers to Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, and does not put forth responses to these shoehorned allegations in this Return, but will address them if requested to by this Court. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.”); *Solley v. Weaver*, 247 S.C. 129, 131, 146 S.E.2d 164, 165 (1966) (“We have held in many cases that every ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the Court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to ‘grobe in the dark’ to ascertain the precise point at issue.”); *see also* Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR (requiring “discussion and citations of authority” in the appellant’s brief for this Court to consider an issue); *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 99, 594 S.E.2d 485, 496 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Numerous cases have held that where an issue is not argued within the body of the brief but is only a short conclusory statement, it is abandoned on appeal.”); *see also Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct.App.2001); *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg’l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 437, 540 S.E.2d 113, 120 (Ct.App.2000); *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 288 n. 1, 536 S.E.2d 408, 412 n. 1 (Ct.App.2000); *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct.App.1993).

trial. To the contrary, the post-conviction relief court correctly found Petitioner did not meet his requisite burden of proof as to these allegations and denied relief.

In order to successfully challenge a conviction or sentence on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must demonstrate counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). With respect to the first prong, there is “a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” *Id.* at 689. With respect to the second prong, one must demonstrate “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 694.

A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. *Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63 (1977). Therefore, statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless a criminal inmate presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. *Crawford v. United States*, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir.1975); *Edmonds v. Lewis*, 546 F.2d 566 (4th Cir.1976).

A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may attack the voluntary, knowing, and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation was below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Porter v. State*, 368 S.C. 378, 383–84, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006); *Roscoe v. State*, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001). The “prejudice,” requirement focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). In other words, the applicant must prove prejudice by showing that, but for counsel's inadequacy, there is a reasonable

probability he would not have pleaded guilty and, instead, would have insisted on going to trial. *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007); *Wolfe v. State*, 326 S.C.158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997).

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969); *Roddy v. State*, 339 S.C. 29, 33–34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000). “A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of the constitutional rights which accompany a guilty plea may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant's counsel, or both.” *Pittman v. State*, 337 S.C. 597, 600, 524 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1999).

“[T]he voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” *Harres v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. 131, 133, 318 S.E.2d 360, 361 (1984). “When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, this Court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty pleas and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing.” *Roddy*, 339 S.C. at 33.

“In considering an allegation on PCR that a guilty plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing.” *Dalton v. State*, 376 S.C. 130, 138-39, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007); *Wolfe*, 326 S.C. at 165 (1997).

Petitioner claims he only pled guilty because counsel promised him he would receive a sentence on the “lower end or lower half” of the capped thirty year plea agreement, “either between fifteen and twenty-two years,” as he was the “least culpable” of the three co-defendants. (App’x

p. 245, ll. 1-5; p. 246, ll. 7-9). Petitioner testified he knew he was “facing two life sentences, plus 130 years” on all of the charges. (App’x p. 277, ll. 14-16). When asked if he ever wanted a trial, Petitioner answered: “If I had known it was gonna be 30 years or nothing, I mean, yes, I talked with [counsel] about a trial, but he told me no, that was not an option because ... we cooperated.”(App’x p. 282, ll.17-21).<sup>5</sup> After listening to counsel’s testimony, Petitioner was recalled and asked whether he heard counsel testify that Petitioner did not have any defense that would lead to a not guilty, and whether he agreed with that summation. Petitioner answered in the affirmative and agreed that he had no defense to the charges against him. (App’s p. 307-08).

Counsel stated he never told Petitioner that he would receive a certain sentence, and furthermore, told Petitioner that the plea court was not bound to that agreement. “He knew he was in that range (15-30) the entire time. What he might have heard or what he might’ve hoped for, or what we all might’ve hoped for was less than 30.” (App’x p. 298, ll.24-25; p. 299, ll. 1). While counsel told Petitioner he hoped the plea court would sentence Petitioner in the lower range of the plea agreement, counsel made no promises. “It was understood that he was less culpable because he didn’t get to pick the victims... [t]hey knew he didn’t participate as much...” (App’x p. 293, ll. 9-20). Regarding the possibility of a trial in this case, counsel stated that it was never an option here: “Realistically, no. No, it was not, because the die had already been cast because of his cooperation and because he had been caught right outside the residence.” (App’x p. 287, ll. 20-24). He further added that his only opinion on Petitioner going to trial was that Petitioner would be convicted, and because of that, Petitioner’s only real option was to plead guilty. (App’x p. 288, ll. 1-6).

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioner provided a full statement to police the day he was arrested and fully admitted his involvement in the crimes, and his confession to police helped them locate two of Petitioner’s co-defendants, all before counsel was ever retained.

The testimony offered at the evidentiary hearing and the guilty plea colloquy establish that Petitioner knowingly and intelligently pled guilty based upon the effective assistance of counsel. Petitioner's claims of ineffective assistance are directly contradicted by his affirmation under oath during the plea colloquy that he was satisfied with counsel's representation. *See Blackledge*, 431 U.S. at 74 ("Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity."); *Bell v. State*, 410 S.C. 436, 442, 765 S.E.2d 4, 7 (Ct. App. 2014).

At his guilty plea hearing, when asked whether he was "totally satisfied" with the representation of his attorney, Petitioner answered, "Yes, sir." (App'x p. 16, ll. 22-24). Petitioner stated that it was his decision to waive his right to a jury trial, and that no one threatened him or promised him anything in order to plead guilty. (App'x p. 32, ll. 7-18). Petitioner was advised by counsel and the plea court of the charges, the potential penalties, the elements of the offense, and the rights that he was waiving by pleading guilty. (App'x p.15-21). When asked whether he understood that the plea court was not bound by the recommended sentence, Petitioner answered, "Yes, sir." (App'x p. 18, ll. 10-13). Based on that understanding, that the plea court could sentence Petitioner to "a minimum of fifteen years and a maximum of life in prison," Petitioner affirmed and answered, "I plead guilty, Your Honor." (App'x p. 18, ll. 14-19). Further, the plea court informed Petitioner of the maximum sentences he could receive for each of his charges prior to Petitioner's plea being entered. (App'x p. 17-21).

The plea court also asked Petitioner whether he understood there were no promises made regarding his guilty plea. Petitioner's answers to those questions reflect an awareness of the potential range of sentences and an understanding that he had not been promised anything in return for his guilty plea. After pleading guilty to each of the indicted offenses, the plea court again asked

Petitioner whether he was “fully satisfied with [his] lawyer,” to which Petitioner answered, “Yes, sir,” (App’x p. 21, ll. 5-7).

Further, Petitioner’s testimony that, at the guilty plea, he understood the sentencing range to be fifteen to thirty years, is clearly contradictory to his claim that counsel’s ‘promise’ of a twenty-two year sentence induced his plea. (App’x 249, ll. 20-22). *See Wolfe v. State*, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (fact defendant “hoped” and “expected” to get reduced sentence does not render plea invalid; “wishful thinking regarding sentencing does not equal a misapprehension concerning the possible range of sentences”); *Harres v. Leeke*, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984) (fact defendant “thought” judge would give lighter sentence not ground for relief); *cf. State v. Dozier*, 263 S.C. 267, 210 S.E.2d 225 (1974) (disparate sentences between co-defendants is not per se abuse of discretion); *cf. Knox v. State*, 340 S.C. 81, 530 S.E.2d 887 (2000) (to be knowing and voluntary, plea must be entered with awareness of consequences of plea, i.e. proper advice by judge on mandatory minimum sentencing).

Therefore, Petitioner cannot establish that counsel was deficient for relaying to Petitioner that he hoped the court would give a lower sentence instead of the thirty years Petitioner received. Petitioner has not presented this Court with any evidence to support his claim that counsel's advice fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Petitioner’s claims of ineffective assistance of counsel do not show both the deficient performance and resulting prejudice required by *Strickland*. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, and this Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

**II. The PCR court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner’s request for a continuance where PCR counsel was ready and prepared to go forward and Petitioner did not produce any evidence to show that he was prejudiced by the evidentiary hearing going forward.**

Petitioner's argues the PCR court abused its discretion by denying his request for a continuance when he did not have time to adequately prepare for his PCR evidentiary hearing, because he received the reconsideration hearing transcript a month prior to the hearing; his father was out of the country and unable to testify on his behalf; and he had limited contact with PCR counsel in the months preceding the hearing.<sup>6</sup> However, this argument set forth by Petitioner misconstrues the substance of Petitioner's request to the PCR court, and the record clearly shows Petitioner was not prejudiced by the evidentiary hearing going forward.

The denial of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and his ruling will not be overturned on appeal absent clear abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the appellant. *State v. Morris*, 376 S.C. 189, 656 S.E.2d 359 (2008); *State v.*

---

<sup>6</sup> See *supra* note 4 and accompanying text. In support of this issue, Petitioner dives headfirst into the realm of speculative argument and conjecture to show how Petitioner *could have been* prejudiced from the PCR court denying his request for a continuance:

1. Petitioner's case could have been significantly more thorough;
2. Petitioner's father could have provided an affidavit or testified;
3. Petitioner could have amended his application to perhaps include additional claims;
4. Petitioner could have raised that counsel was unprepared for the motion to reconsider;
5. Petitioner could have subpoenaed the solicitor and assistant solicitor from his case to testify.

(PWC p. 14).

*Cf. Jackson v. State*, 329 S.C. 345, 351, 495 S.E.2d 768, 771 (1998) (It is pure speculation to conclude the outcome of respondent's trial would have been different if counsel had interviewed and/or called additional witnesses); *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995) (prejudice from trial counsel's failure to interview or call witnesses could not be shown where the PCR applicant failed to introduce evidence of what the uncalled witnesses' testimony would have been and an applicant's mere speculation what a witness' testimony would have been cannot satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice); *Clark v. State*, 315 S.C. 385, 434 S.E.2d 266 (1993) (pure conjecture as to what a witness's testimony would have been is not sufficient to show a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different); *Underwood v. State*, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992) (prejudice from trial counsel's failure to interview or call witnesses could not be shown where witnesses did not testify at PCR hearing).

*McMillian*, 349 S.C. 17, 561 S.E.2d 602 (2002); *State v. Babb*, 299 S.C. 451, 385 S.E.2d 827 (1989); see also *State v. Pendergrass*, 270 S.C. 1, 239 S.E.2d 750 (1977).

Likewise, Petitioner has not shown how the denial of the continuance was prejudicial to him. Although Petitioner expressed his unease of proceeding because he had limited contact with his PCR counsel leading up to the hearing, he was unable to state a legally sound reason why a continuance was necessary. Moreover, at the commencement of the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel stated he was prepared and ready to go forward. (App'x p. 236, ll. 22-25). PCR counsel explained:

I have sent him, I just counted up, eight letters throughout my representation. I have his guilty plea, his sentencing plea, his motion for reconsideration, transcripts here. I spoke with his counsel, counsel for the codefendants, and I am prepared to go. He does not want to go forward today.

(App'x p. 237, ll. 3-8).

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